Filed 06-07-2024

FILED 06-07-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT II

### Case No. 2024AP0691-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

### JODY WILLIAM SOLOM,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Motion to Suppress Entered in the Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael Bohren, Presiding.

## BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

WILL STRAUBE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1113838

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 straubew@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Officer Butryn of the Waukesha Police Department was told by police dispatch that a red Honda Civic was reported to have run a stop sign and crashed into a snowbank before driving away with a "smashed up" front end. Officer Butryn subsequently saw a red Honda Civic driven by Mr. Solom in the same area but did not observe damage to the front of the vehicle. Nonetheless, Officer Butryn stopped Mr. Solom.

1. Did Officer Butryn have reasonable suspicion that Mr. Solom had committed a crime despite not observing damage to Mr. Solom's vehicle?

The trial court answered yes.

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Solom does not request oral argument. Because this case involves the application of settled law to undisputed facts, publication is likely not warranted.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 28, 2022, Officer Butryn pulled over and arrested Mr. Solom. (1:3). Mr. Solom was subsequently charged with operating while intoxicated as a sixth offense, failure to install an

Page 5 of 16

ignition interlock device, operating while revoked, and obstructing an officer. (1:1-2). On June 17, 2022, Mr. Solom filed a motion to suppress arguing that he was unlawfully stopped and that all evidence obtained as a result of the unlawful stop should be suppressed. (21). The trial court held an evidentiary hearing and denied Mr. Solom's motion. (59; App. 7). Mr. Solom subsequently pleaded guilty to operating while intoxicated as a sixth offense with the remaining charges dismissed and read in. (61:3, 8). This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 28, 2022, a witness reported a reckless driver to the Waukesha Police Department. (59:11; App. 17). The witness reported seeing a car run a stop sign and hit a snowbank before leaving the scene.<sup>1</sup> *Id.* The witness described the car as a red Honda Civic but was unable to provide a license plate number. *Id.* The witness did, however, report that the front of the vehicle was "smashed up." (59:20; App. 26). After the crash, the witness reported seeing the vehicle drive away, traveling westbound on Main Street in Waukesha. (59:12; App. 18).

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The witness also reported that the driver appeared intoxicated. (59:11; App. 17). However, the trial court found this information unreliable, explaining "I don't know how the people would know that the driver was intoxicated, other than they assumed because he hit a snowbank that he must be intoxicated." (59:41; App. 47). Accordingly, the trial court discounted this information. (59:41-42; App. 47-48).

reckless driver. (59:10-11; App. 16-17). Approximately five minutes after the witness report, while traveling eastbound on Main Street, Officer Butryn saw what appeared to be a red Honda Civic going in the opposite direction, about a mile from where the witness had previously seen the reckless driver. (59:13-14; App. 19-20). Officer Butryn testified that he "was able to observe the driver's side of the front of the vehicle" and that it did not appear to be damaged. (59:22; App. 28).<sup>2</sup> Butryn then performed a U-Turn and followed the red car. (59:22-23; App. 28-29). This was the first red sedan he had seen and he did not look for other cars that may have matched the description. Id. At the suppression hearing, Officer Butryn did not specifically remember whether there was heavy traffic, but testified that it was reasonable to believe so based on the fact that it was 5:30 p.m. on a Friday evening. (59:21; App. 27). While following the vehicle, he observed some minor deviations within the lane of traffic and varying speeds, but did not observe the car leave its lane or commit a speeding violation. (59:23; App. 29). He then stopped the vehicle. Id.

Officer Butryn was dispatched to search for the

At the suppression hearing, the court concluded that the minor deviations within a lane and varying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Later in the hearing, Officer Butryn appeared to give conflicting testimony. When the State asked him, "So you did not see the front of the car; is that fair to say?" he replied "Prior to initiating the stop, no." (59:26). The trial court did not make a specific finding as to whether Officer Butryn saw the front of the vehicle, but concluded that "as he passes the vehicle, he doesn't observe any damage to the front of the vehicle." (59:38).

Page 7 of 16

speeds would not have been sufficient on their own to provide probable cause or reasonable suspicion. (59:40; App. 46). However, the court concluded the minor deviations and varying speed could indicate a "control issue," and that Officer Butryn had reason to believe it was the same car which had crashed into a snowbank and therefore had "sufficient probable cause to make a stop for further investigation." (59:40-41; App 46-47). Although the court acknowledged that Officer Butryn did not observe damage to the front of the vehicle before making the stop, the court concluded that such an observation would be "frosting on the cake" but was not necessary to provide reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Solom's vehicle. (59:41; App. 47).

### ARGUMENT

I. The police stop violated Mr. Solom's Fourth Amendment rights because the officer lacked a sufficient basis to believe that his vehicle was the same one reported to have crashed into a snowbank.

The facts found by the circuit court were not sufficient, under the totality of the circumstances, to give rise to a reasonable suspicion that Mr. Solom was operating while intoxicated. Accordingly, the traffic stop violated his Fourth Amendment rights.

A. Legal principles and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment provides "the right of the people to be secure in their persons ... against

unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. CONST., AMEND. IV. "A traffic stop is generally reasonable if the officers have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred or have grounds to reasonably suspect a violation has been or will be committed." State v. Popke, 2009 WI 37, ¶11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569 (citations and quotations omitted). The burden of bears the establishing state the reasonableness of the stop. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. The remedy for a Fourth Amendment violation is exclusion of the evidence obtained therefrom. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 488 (1963).

Whether there is probable cause or reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle is a question of constitutional fact. *Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶10. The circuit court's findings of historical facts are upheld unless clearly erroneous but the application of those facts to constitutional principles is reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

A police officer may conduct a traffic stop when, under the totality of the circumstances, he or she has grounds to reasonably suspect that a crime or traffic violation has been or will be committed. *Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶23. Reasonable suspicion must be founded on concrete, particularized facts warranting suspicion of a specific individual. *State v. Richey*, 2022 WI 106, ¶9, 405 Wis.2d 132, 983 N.W.2d 617. An officer's inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch will not give rise to a reasonable suspicion. *Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶23. B. The totality of the circumstances did not amount to a reasonable suspicion that Mr. Solom was operating while intoxicated.

When he initiated his stop of Mr. Solom's car, Officer Butryn knew the following facts:

- A witness had reported that a red Honda Civic had run a stop sign and hit a snowbank, leaving it with smashed up front end.
- The witness reported last seeing that vehicle driving westbound on Main Street.
- Officer Butryn saw a red Honda Civic driving westbound on Main Street but did not observe any damage to the front end.
- It was 5:30 p.m. on a Friday evening, when traffic is typically heavy.
- The car Officer Butryn saw made minor deviations which did not amount to any traffic violation.

Based on this information, Officer Butryn lacked reasonable suspicion that Mr. Solom's car had been involved in a crime or traffic violation, because he lacked particularized reasons to believe it was the same vehicle that had crashed into a snowbank.

State v. Richey is instructive. In that case, an officer was told to be on the lookout for a Harley-Davidson motorcycle driving erratically and speeding

at around 11:00 p.m. *Richey*, 2022 WI 106, ¶2. About five minutes later, the officer spotted a Harley-Davidson half a mile from the reported location of the speeding Harley. *Id.* at ¶3. Although the second officer did not observe any traffic violations, she stopped the Harley-Davidson based on her suspicion that it was the same vehicle that had previously been seen driving erratically. *Id.* The Court noted that traffic had been light that night and that the officer had seen relatively few motorcycles out that early in the year. *Id.* at ¶10.

Based on these facts, the Wisconsin Supreme Court determined that stop was not based on reasonable suspicion, explaining that "[t]o clear the reasonable-suspicion threshold, Officer Meier's suspicions had to be particularized; she needed concrete reasons for believing that Richey's Harley-Davidson and the one seen five minutes earlier speeding north on Alderson Street were one and the same." Id. at ¶11 (emphasis added). Because the basic description of a "Harley-Davidson motorcycle" could "apply to a large number of vehicles," the officer's hunch did not rise to the level of reasonable suspicion. Id.; see also United States v. Street, 917 F.3d 586, 594 (7th Cir. 2019) ("Terry does not authorize broad dragnets ... Without more, a description that applies to large numbers of people will not justify the seizure of a particular individual.").

Here, the descriptor "red Honda Civic" applies to a large number of vehicles. Honda Civics are one of the most popular cars in America, and red cars are not

uncommon.<sup>3</sup> Moreover, while the stop in *Richey* occurred late at night when traffic was relatively light, the stop here took place during rush hour on a Friday evening – meaning more vehicles were on the road. And while the officer in *Richey* did not know the color or model of the motorcycle she was searching for, motorcycles in general are significantly less common than passenger cars. Because red Honda Civics are common, and because it was 5:30 on a Friday evening, the description given to Officer Butryn applied to a fair number of vehicles and, accordingly, he lacked concrete reasons for believing the first red Honda Civic he saw was the same one which had reportedly hit a snowbank.

This is especially true because Officer Butryn *had* a more detailed description than simply a "red Honda Civic." He had been told the front end of the vehicle was "smashed up." But Officer Butryn did not observe any damage to the front of Mr. Solom's vehicle, nor did he investigate further before stopping the vehicle, making his suspicion that it was the same car even less reasonable under the circumstances.

automobiles/releases/release-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In February of 2022, shortly after Mr. Solom was stopped, Honda reported that the Civic had been the best-selling passenger car in America for each of the previous six years. Civic Leadership: Honda Civic is America's Best-Selling Retail Passenger Car for 6<sup>th</sup> Straight Year (February 8, 2022), https://hondanews.com/en-US/honda-

b50efa689496a1943cdccc4649284099-civic-leadership-hondacivic-is-americas-best-selling-retail-passenger-car-for-6thstraight-year/.

The fact that the witness lost sight of the vehicle in rush hour traffic also makes Officer Butryn's suspicions less particularized. In contrast, in *State v. Rissley*, a homeowner reported watching a beige Chevy van driving in a certain direction after committing a crime. 2012 WI App 112, ¶3, 433 Wis. 2d 422, 824 N.W.2d 853. While still on the phone with the homeowner, the dispatcher sent a patrol car to the area. *Id* at ¶4. The homeowner continued to update dispatch on the location of the vehicle, reporting that it had turned south onto a rural road. *Id*. at ¶16. Shortly thereafter, an officer spotted taillights going south on the same road and determined that they belonged to a beige Chevy van, which he then stopped. *Id*.

This Court noted that because the witness in *Rissley* gave a running description of where the van was going, "this is not a situation where a citizen simply reports the make and color of the car and the direction initially traveled and then loses sight of the vehicle so that the pursuing officer has to use some combination of logic and guesswork to locate the fleeing vehicle." *Id.* at ¶16. The Court also relied on the fact that the stop took place on a rural road at 3:00 a.m. with very little traffic.<sup>4</sup> Accordingly, it found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although there was no testimony specifically stating how many other vehicles were on the road, the Court "infer[red] from the fact that it was nearly three o'clock in the morning and by the officer's ability to spot the van's taillights at a distance that other cars were not a factor." *Rissley*, 2012 WI App 112 at ¶17.

there was reasonable suspicion to stop the van because "the chances of there being another beige Chevy van on Middle Road in such a short time span at about 3:00 a.m. going in a certain direction of travel are slim." *Id.* at 17.

Here, the witness *did* simply provide a description of the car and the direction initially travelled before losing sight of the vehicle, and thus Officer Butryn had to rely on "some combination of logic and guesswork" to determine the first red Civic he saw must be the same car. And in contrast to Rissley, the chances of another red Honda Civic driving on Main Street in Waukesha during rush hour on a Friday evening are significantly higher than the chances of there being two beige Chevy vans on a rural road at 3:00 a.m. Because the witness lost sight of the vehicle during rush hour and because red Honda Civics are relatively common cars, Officer Butryn lacked a particularized suspicion that the car he saw was the same one which had crashed into a snowbank. And, again, Officer Butryn had a more specific description which Mr. Solom's car did not appear to match; he observed no damage to the front of Mr. Solom's vehicle and did not investigate the front of the vehicle before making the stop. Accordingly, his suspicion that it was the same vehicle was even less reasonable.

The observations that the vehicle made minor variations within its lane and varied its speed were not a sufficient basis for reasonable suspicion on their own and did not provide a concrete reason for believing it

was the same vehicle that had run a stop sign and crashed into a snowbank. Making slight variations in the direction of travel within a lane is not only innocent conduct, it is "conduct that many innocent drivers commit." *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 30, ¶21, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. It certainly does not indicate that a driver is so out of control that he would run a stop sign and crash into a snowbank. Varying speeds without exceeding the speed limit is also innocent conduct that many drivers engage in. It does not indicate a loss of control of a vehicle and, when driving in traffic on a road with stop lights, is often necessary to drive safely.

That Mr. Solom's car was stopped near to the location of the reckless driving a few minutes later adds little particularity to Officer Butryn's suspicions. Certainly, proximity in time and place to a report of criminal activity can, under some circumstance, contribute to reasonable suspicion. But here, given the the time of day and the heavy traffic, and the fact that Officer Butryn had a specific description of damage to the car which Mr. Solom's car did not appear to match, he lacked particularized reasons to believe the car he spotted was the same one that crashed into a snowbank. Consequently, he lacked reasonable suspicion that Mr. Solom had committed a crime or a traffic violation.

### CONCLUSION

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the judgment of conviction, allow Mr. Solom to withdraw his guilty plea, and remand with instructions to suppress any evidence obtained pursuant to the unlawful stop.