Filed 08-02-2024

Page 1 of 24

FILED 08-02-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2024AP691-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JODY WILLIAM SOLOM,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

- The tip originated from an identifiable citizen (R. 59:9, 11);
- The tip's details, including a specific description of the car's make, model, and color, i.e., a red Honda Civic, the citizen's observations of the driver's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In its decision, the circuit court determined that the facts gave "the officer sufficient *probable cause* to make a stop for further investigation" and "that there was *probable cause* to stop." (R. 59:41–42 (emphasis added).) In its response to Solom's motion and in its argument at the suppression hearing, the State argued that the circumstances supported reasonable suspicion for the stop and not probable cause. (R. 28:1–2; 59:25, 30, 36.) Consistent with the hearing evidence and its argument below, the State argues that the totality of the circumstances supported reasonable suspicion. It does not ask this Court to affirm the stop on probable cause grounds. The circuit court's reasoning does not bind this Court, which may affirm the judgment even if it disagrees with the circuit court's reasoning. *Weyenberg Shoe Mfg. Co. v. Seidl*, 140 Wis. 2d 373, 383, 410 N.W.2d 604 (Ct. App. 1987).

inability to control the Civic, i.e., going through a stop sign and crashing into a snowbank, its direction of travel, i.e., westbound on Main Street, and the citizen's suspicion that the driver appeared intoxicated (R. 59:11–12);

- Officer Butryn's training and experience related to investigating OWI offenses, i.e., "between 55 and 100" investigations, awareness of OWI indicators, i.e., driving through stop signs, "varying speeds, weaving within its own lane," and failing to immediately stop after being signaled to stop (R. 59:6-7, 17);
- Officer Butryn's corroboration of the details of the citizen's tip, including his observation of a red Honda Civic, its proximity both in time and place to its first reported location, i.e., within two to three minutes of the dispatch and about a mile away, and its direction of travel, westbound on Main Street (R. 59:14);
- Officer Butryn's observations of Solom's operation of the Civic, including "varying speeds, increasing speed, decreasing speed, as well as weaving within its own lane" (R. 59:15);
- Solom's failure to stop immediately, travelling another 30 seconds after Officer Butryn activated his lights and siren (R. 59:16–17).

In assessing reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances, this Court views these factors together rather than in isolation from each other. *Genous*, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 12. That said, the State briefly addresses the significance of several of these factors.

To begin, the tip originated from an identifiable citizen rather than an anonymous source. (R. 59:11, 38.) An anonymous source's tip, if sufficiently corroborated, may establish probable cause, *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 243–

Page 14 of 24

46 (1983), or reasonable suspicion, "a less demanding standard than probable cause," *Alabama v. White*, 496 U.S. 325, 330 (1990). And in assessing reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment, courts place even greater weight on the reliability of tips from citizens who place their anonymity at risk, thereby exposing themselves to criminal liability. *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶¶ 35, 38, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. Accordingly, courts apply a "relaxed test of reliability" to tips from citizens, focused on observational reliability even when "other indicia of reliability have not yet been established." *Id.* ¶ 36.

Courts have applied these principles for assessing a citizen's reliability to *Terry* investigatory stops, including those precipitated by a citizen's report of erratic driving. *State* v. *Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶¶ 16–38, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516. In *Rutzinski*, the citizen provided information to the dispatcher about the driver's handling of a truck, i.e., weaving in its lane, varying its speed, and tailgating, a description of the truck, i.e., a black pickup, and a description of its path of travel. *Id.* ¶¶ 4–6, 38. The Wisconsin Supreme Court found the citizen's tip was sufficiently reliable to provide reasonable suspicion and, therefore, to justify a *Terry* traffic stop even though the officer did not independently observe erratic driving before initiating the stop. *Id.* ¶¶ 7, 38.

After *Rutzinski*, the United States Supreme Court reached a similar conclusion, determining that an officer had reasonable suspicion to stop a truck after a caller reported to a dispatcher that the truck had run the caller off the road 18 minutes earlier. *Navarette v. California*, 572 U.S. 393, 395, 399, 404 (2014). Even assuming that the caller was anonymous, the Supreme Court concluded that the caller's allegation, which included the truck's make, model and plate number, "bore adequate indicia of reliability for the officer to credit the caller's account" and justified the officer's belief the caller was reliable. *Id.* at 398–99. It also concluded "that the behavior alleged by the 911 caller, 'viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount[s] to reasonable suspicion' of drunk driving" and that the stop was "proper." *Id.* at 401–02 (alteration in original) (citation omitted). The Supreme Court also noted that "the absence of additional suspicious conduct, after the vehicle was first spotted by an officer, [did not] dispel the reasonable suspicion of drunk driving." *Id.* at 403.

What *Terry* requires is that the officer "point to specific and articulable facts" that justify the officer's investigatory stop. Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 14. As in Rutzinksi, id. ¶ 4, the citizen's tip here included specific and articulable facts about the driver's handling of the Civic. Those other articulable details included the citizen's observations that the driver went through a stop sign and hit a snowbank with sufficient force to cause front end damage. (R. 59:10–11.) These observations reflected on the driver's inability to safely control the Civic and were relevant to Officer Butryn's assessment that the Civic's driver may be impaired. (R. 59: 6– 7, 11, 20.) As in *Rutzinski*, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶¶ 4–5, the citizen provided additional pieces of information that enhanced the tip's reliability, including: (1) a detailed description of the car, including the make, model, and color, i.e., a "red Honda Civic" (R. 59:11); and (2) information about the Civic's direction of travel, i.e., westbound on Main Street (R. 59:12).

True, unlike in *Rutzinski*, 241 Wis. 2d 729,  $\P\P$  5–6, there is no indication that the citizen remained on the phone with the dispatcher relaying ongoing information about the Civic's movement or reporting that Officer Butryn stopped the correct car. But the absence of these facts is not fatal to the tip's reliability. Consistent with the citizen's report, Officer Butryn located a red Honda Civic within two to three minutes of the dispatch travelling westbound on Main Street and within a mile of the location the citizen reported. (R. 59:13–14.) And here, Officer Butryn did something that

the officer in *Rutzinski* did not do to significantly corroborate the tip. In *Rutzinski*, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 16, the officer initiated the stop without personally observing erratic driving. Here, by contrast, Officer Butryn did not immediately initiate a stop of the Civic. Instead, he followed it and made independent observations about Solom's driving. Officer Butryn noted two indicators of intoxicated driving, including Solom increasing and decreasing the Civic's speed and weaving within its lane. (R. 59:6–7, 15.)

To justify his *Terry* stop of Solom, Officer Butryn had "to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." Terry, 392 U.S. at 21. He did that. To require him continue to make additional observations about Solom's driving before initiating a traffic stop "ignores the tremendous potential danger presented by drunk drivers." *Rutzinski*, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 35. "[A]llowing a drunk driver a second chance for dangerous conduct" while the officer watch "could disastrous continues to a car have consequences." Navarette, 572 U.S. at 404.

Here, the significant public interest in enforcing intoxicated driving laws based on the grave consequences of impaired driving weighs in favor of the State's need for the seizure against the intrusion that the seizure entails. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21; Rutzinski, 241 Wis. 2d 729, ¶ 35 (collecting cases in impaired driving context). Officer Butryn's temporary seizure of Solom significantly advanced that public interest, allowing him to assess whether the driving that the citizen reported and Officer Butryn observed resulted from an impaired condition. Further, Officer Butryn's intrusion into Solom's liberty was relatively slight, involving an investigatory stop of Solom, who was operating the Civic on a public roadway, and not an intrusion into his home. See Caniglia v. Strom, 593 U.S. 194, 199 (2021) ("What is

reasonable for vehicles is different from what is reasonable for homes.").

To be sure, Solom's conduct may have been ambiguous in that there may have been innocent explanations for the driving that the citizen reported and that Officer Butryn observed. But a *Terry* stop's principal function "is to quickly resolve that ambiguity." *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 60, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). Under the circumstances, it was "[t]he essence of good police work" for Officer Butryn to freeze the situation and "to briefly stop [Solom] in order to maintain the status quo temporarily while obtaining more information." *Id.* at 61. Based on the totality of information, including the citizen's report, Officer Butryn's experience, and his independent observations of the Civic, Officer Butryn "would have been remiss in his duty to have acted otherwise." *Id.* Officer Butryn's decision to temporarily seize Solom was constitutionally reasonable.

# D. Solom's arguments notwithstanding, reasonable suspicion supported the stop.

In asserting that Officer Butryn lacked reasonable suspicion, Solom attempts to "isolat[e] various factors, attacking them one by one, and then excluding each factor from the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis. . . . '[T]his sort of divide-and-conquer analysis" is inappropriate. *Genous*, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 12 (quoting *United States v. Arvizu*, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002)).

Citing State v. Richey, 2022 WI 106, ¶ 1, 405 Wis. 2d 132, 983 N.W.2d 617, Solom contends that the citizen's description of the red Honda Civic was akin to an officer's "generic description of a Harley-Davidson motorcycle recently seen driving erratically." (Solom's Br. 9–11.) In Richey, the Wisconsin Supreme Court characterized the issue of reasonable suspicion as "a close question." Richey, 405 Wis. 2d 132, ¶ 11. It determined that the first officer's "generic description of a Harley-Davidson motorcycle" provided an insufficient basis for a second officer to stop Richey, whom she saw driving a Harley-Davidson within five minutes and a half mile of the first officer's report. *Id.* ¶¶ 1, 11–12. In contrast to *Richey*, where the first officer only provided a vehicle make, i.e., a Harley-Davidson motorcycle, the citizen here not only provided the make, but also a model and color, i.e., a red Honda Civic. Unlike *Richey*'s generic description of a "Harley-Davidson motorcycle,"<sup>2</sup> the additional model and color information narrowed the focus of Officer Butryn's search.

Other factors distinguish Solom's case from *Richey*. In contrast to the five minutes between the first officer's report and the second officer's observation of Richey, *id*. ¶ 2, Officer Butryn observed the red Honda Civic within two to three minutes, further increasing the probability that he was pulling over the same Civic that the citizen reported. (R. 59:14.) Finally, unlike in *Richey*, where the second officer made no observations of erratic driving, 405 Wis. 2d 132, ¶ 3, Officer Butryn observed Solom operating the Civic erratically, noting that its speed varied and it deviated within its lane, both indicators of impaired driving. (R. 59:6–7, 15.) In sum, *Richey* does not control Solom's case, as Officer Butryn had more information available to him before he stopped Solom than the officer had before she stopped *Richey*.

Relying on *State v. Rissley*, 2012 WI App 112, 344 Wis. 2d 422, 824 N.W.2d 853, Solom suggests that the absence of a continued running description of a vehicle's direction of movement on a busy street weighs against reasonable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In 2020, Harley-Davidson offered 24 different motorcycle models in as many as 13 different colors. *Search results for 2020 motorcycles*, Harley-Davidson, <u>https://www.harley-</u> <u>davidson.com/us/en/search.html?format=json;i=1;locale=en\_US;q=</u> <u>2020%20motorcycles;q1=bikes;sp\_c=48;sp\_cs=UTF-</u> <u>8:x1=primaryCatogoryCode (last visited July 30, 2024)</u>. *See* Wis

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>8;x1=primaryCategoryCode</u> (last visited July 30, 2024). *See* Wis. Stat. § 902.01(2)(b) (judicial notice).

suspicion. (Solom's Br. 12–13.) True, Rissley concerned a situation where a citizen provided updates on a beige Chevy van's location late at night on a lightly travelled rural roadway until an officer stopped it. Rissley, 344 Wis. 2d 422, ¶¶ 4–5, 12–13. But nothing in *Rissley* suggests that a responding officer can only act on a citizen's tip when the citizen provides a running description of a suspect's conduct. To impose such a requirement essentially creates a brightline rule and runs contrary to assessing Fourth Amendment reasonableness based on a case's facts. Scott, 378 Wis. 2d 578, ¶ 14. *Rissley* is distinguishable from Solom's case for another reason. There, as in *Richey*, the officer stopped the van at the dispatcher's direction and did not observe any traffic violations before he stopped it. *Rissley*, 344 Wis. 2d 422, ¶ 5. In contrast, Officer Butryn saw Solom engage in erratic driving, potentially indicative of intoxicated driving. (R. 59:6– 7, 15.)

Quoting Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21, Solom suggests that deviating within a lane is "conduct that many innocent drivers commit." (Solom's Br. 13-14.) Post does not help Solom. There, the Wisconsin Supreme Court declined "the bright-line rule proffered by the State that weaving within a single lane may *alone* give rise to reasonable suspicion, [or] the bright-line rule advocated by Post that weaving within a single lane must be erratic, unsafe, or illegal to give rise to reasonable suspicion." Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 26 (emphasis added). Instead, it reiterated the rule that courts assess reasonable suspicion for a stop under the totality of the circumstances and found reasonable suspicion based on the officer's testimony. Id. ¶¶ 27–37. Here, the totality included the citizen's observation that the Civic went through a stop sign and crashed into a snowbank and Officer Butryn's observation of a Civic that matched the citizen's description shortly thereafter and nearby, weaving within its lane at varying speeds. (R. 59:6-7, 11, 15.)

True, Officer Butryn did not observe Solom drive in a manner that violated the traffic code. (Solom's Br. 9.)<sup>3</sup> And there might have been an innocent explanation for Solom's operation of the Civic. But Officer Butryn was not required to rule out the possibility of an innocent explanation before initiating a Terry stop. See Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, ¶ 46. That said, the absence of a readily apparent innocent explanation for Solom's driving would weigh in favor of reasonable suspicion. While Officer Butryn reported that the traffic was heavy based on the time of day (R. 59:21), the record is devoid of an alternative, innocent explanation, like slippery or icy road conditions or other traffic, that accounts for Solom's disregard of a stop sign, crashing into a snowbank, weaving within his lane, and varying his speed (R. 59:6–7, 11, 15). Under the circumstances, it was certainly reasonable for Officer Butryn to resolve the ambiguity quickly by initiating a traffic stop of Solom. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d at 84.

Solom suggests that Officer Butryn's inability to see damage to the Civic before he stopped it undermines reasonable suspicion. (Solom's Br. 14.) As the circuit court aptly noted, had Officer Butryn observed damage to the Civic before he stopped it, "that obviously would have been further evidence. You might say frosting on the cake, but I don't think he has to see that based upon the information that the officer had." (R. 59:41.)

Further, there is a reasonable explanation for Officer Butryn's inability to see the damage to the front end until after he initiated the stop. (R. 59:24, 26.) When Officer Butryn first saw the Civic, he was travelling in the opposite direction as the Civic on Main Street in dark and heavy traffic conditions, and he "was able to observe the

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 3}$  If he had witnessed that, it would have given him not only reasonable suspicion but probable cause to initiate a stop without more.

Page 21 of 24

driver's side of the front of the vehicle." (R. 59:14, 21–22.) In other words, Officer Butryn was unable to see the Civic's right front passenger quarter panel. It would be unreasonable to expect Officer Butryn to maneuver his squad in a manner that allowed him to view the erratically operated Civic on all sides before stopping it. In assessing the reasonableness of Officer Butryn's behavior, this Court is mindful that "officers are often forced to make split-second judgments—in circumstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly evolving." *Graham v. Connor*, 490 U.S. 386, 396–97 (1989).

Finally, as Solom correctly notes, the circuit court discounted the citizen's observation that the driver appeared intoxicated. (Solom's Br. 5 n.1 (citing R. 59:11, 41).) But, in assessing reasonable suspicion, this Court need not discount the citizen's opinion that Solom appeared intoxicated like the circuit court did. In *Navarette*, the Supreme Court noted that the caller did more than simply report "a minor traffic infraction" or make "a conclusory allegation of drunk or reckless driving." Navarette, 572 U.S. at 403. Rather, the caller "alleged a specific and dangerous result of the driver's conduct: running another car off the highway. That conduct bears too great a resemblance to paradigmatic manifestations of drunk driving to be dismissed as an isolated example of recklessness." Id. Similarly, the citizen's observation that Solom's Civic went through a stop sign and crashed into a snowbank provided a reasoned basis for the citizen's observation that the driver was intoxicated. (R. 59:10-11.) And under these circumstances, including his independent observations, Officer Butryn acted reasonably "in stopping a driver whose alleged conduct was a significant indicator of drunk driving." Navarette, 572 U.S. at 403.

\* \* \* \* \*

Based on the totality of the circumstances, Officer Butryn had reasonable suspicion to temporarily stop Solom to determine whether he was operating while under the influence.

# E. If this Court finds a Fourth Amendment violation, it should issue a remand order limited in scope.

Should this Court find a Fourth Amendment violation, Solom asks this Court to "reverse the judgment of conviction, allow [him] to withdraw his guilty plea, and remand with instructions to suppress any evidence obtained pursuant to the unlawful stop." (Solom's Br. 15.) That would not be appropriate.

An appellate "court's role in a conventional appeal is limited to addressing the issues briefed by appellate counsel." *State v. Tillman*, 2005 WI App 71, ¶ 18, 281 Wis. 2d 157, 696 N.W.2d 574. The only issue before this Court is whether the circuit court erred when it found no Fourth Amendment violation. The circuit court did not address whether the exclusionary rule should apply if there were a violation or whether it should grant Solom plea withdrawal.

Indeed, if this Court finds a Fourth Amendment violation occurred when the circuit court did not, this Court will remand the case to the circuit court to determine whether an exception to the exclusionary rule applies. See, e.g., State v. Anker, 2014 WI App 107, ¶ 27, 357 Wis. 2d 565, 855 N.W.2d 483; State v. Marquardt, 2001 WI App 219, ¶¶ 23, 53, 247 Wis. 2d 765, 635 N.W.2d 188. And even when suppression is the remedy, plea withdrawal is not automatic. Rather, the circuit court grants plea withdrawal only if the State cannot meet its burden of demonstrating that the circuit court's error in refusing to suppress evidence was harmless, guided by the factors this Court identified in State v. Semrau, 2000 WI App 54, ¶ 22, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376.

On remand, the State may well be unable to identify an applicable exception to the exclusionary rule that applies or demonstrate that the refusal to suppress evidence was harmless. But this Court cannot decide these issues without a proper record or arguments.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment.